IN THE MATTER OF £ BEFORE THE MARYLAND

MIGUEL ANTONATOS, M.D. * STATE BOARD OF
Respondent - * PHYSICIANS
License Number: D90753 * Case Numbei‘: 2224-0065A
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FINAL ORDER

PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

The Maryland Board of Physicians (the “Maryland Board™) received information
that Miguel Antonatbs, M.D., (the “Respondent”) License Number D90753, a ph_ysicia_ﬁ
licensed via the Interstate Medical Licensure Compact (the “Compact™), was disciplined
by the Tennessee Board of Medical Exanﬁners (the “Tennessee Board”). In an Order
dated November 7, 2023, the Tennés_sge Board disciplined the Respondent by repri_malid
~and assessment of a civil penalty. The Tennessee Order was bésed on a order of public

discipline against Respondent’s license by the Washington Medical Commission
(“Washington Board”). . B
| Based on,'th_’e} above.referenc.ed Tennessee Board and Wéshington Board
sanctions; the MarylandBoérd has sufficient grounds for discipline of the Respondent’,é
- medical liéense pursuant to the foiloﬁing: ) |
Health’Ocq. §14-3_A—01 Section 10 Disc;ipliﬁary Actions provides:
(a) Any disciplinary action taken by any member board against a physician
licensed through the Compact shall be deemed unprofessional conduct that

may be subject to discipline by other member boards, in addition to any -
“violation of the Medical Practice Act or regulations in that state.
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(c) If disciplinary action is taken against a physician by a member board not in
the state of principal license, any other member board may deem the action
conclusive as to matter of law and fact decided; and :

(1) Impose the same or lesser sanction(s) against the physician so long as such
sanctions are consistent with the Medical Practice Act of that state[.] -

Disciplinary Panel A (“Panel A”) has determined that the acts for which. the
Respondent was disciplined in Tennessee and Washington would be grounds for
disciplinary action under H.O. § 14-404(a). The grounds for di,sdipli11ary action under
H.O. § 14-404(a) are as follows:

3) (i)  Is guilty of:

.Unprofessional conduct in the practice of medicine.
(43)  Except for the licensure process described under Subtitlé ?A of this title,

violates any provisions of this title, any rule or regulation adopted by the

Board, or any State or federal law pertaining to the practice of medicine;
According to Code of Maryland Regulations (COMAR) 10.32.05.05

| (A). A telehealth practitioner shall perform a synchronous, audio-visual

evaluation adequate to establish diagnoses and identify underlying conditions or
contraindications to recommended treatment options before providing treatment or
prescribing medication. '

According to COMAR § 10.32.05.06

(B). A Telehealth practitioner may not treat a patient or prescribe medication
based solely on an online questionnaire.

" FINDINGS OF FACT

" Panel A makes the following findings of fact:
1. Atall t{mes relevant hereto, the Respondent was a physician licensed to
practice medicine in the State of Maryland via the Compact in Maryland on or about

January 13, 2021.



2, The Tennessee Board disciplined the Respondent based upon the
discipline imposed by the Washington Medical Commission (the “Washington Board™)
Whereiﬁ the Washington Board found that the Respondent prescribed ivefmectin to at
least four patients via an eiectronic messaging application known as “Text2MD” éfter the -
.patients filled out an online questionnaire. It was determined that the Respondent
prescribed ivermectin based solely on the online questionnaire and no patient-provider
relationship was ever estaBlished. The Respondent never personally engaged with the
patients §/ia audio or video means.

3. By Order dated November 7, 2023, the Tennessee Board disciplined the
Respondent by reprimand and' assessment df a civil penélty.

4. Panel A further adopts the Stipulations éf Fact contained in the Tennessee
_ Order attached hereto as Exhibit 1.

5. Panel A further adopts the Findings of Fact contained in the Washington

Order attached hereto as Exhibit 2.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
Based on the foregoing Findings of Fact and based on the Tennessee Board’s
~ conclusions of law and the Washington Board’s conclusions of law applied throﬁgh the
p-rovisions.of Health Occ. § 14-3A-01 Section 10(a) and (c)(1), Panel A conclucies as a
matter of law thét the Réspondent violated Health Occ. §1‘4~404(a)(3)(ii) and (43) and
COMAR § 10.32.05.05 and 10.32.05.06. | |
- ORDER
- It is, thus, by Panel A, hereby: |

ORDERED that the Respondent is hereby REPRIMANDED; and it is further



ORDERED thét the Respondent is subj éct to the fol_lo\‘A"ing ten.ns and conditions:
(1) When prescﬁbing medication or providing care to patients in the State'of |
Maiyland, Respondent will first establish a physician-patent relationship by
seeing the patient either in-person or via real-time video, taking the patient’s
history, and examining the paﬁent before decidiﬁg oﬁ a course of treatment
and prescribing.medication to that patent.
(2) The Respondent will .not provide ivermectin for non-FDA approved
indications to patients located in the State of Maryland; and be it further
ORDERED that the effective date of the Final Order is the date the Final Order is
signed by the Executive Director of the Board or her designee. The Executive Director or
her designee signs the Final Ordef on behalf of the disciplinary panel which has imposed
the terms and éonditidns of this Final Order; and it is further
ORDER_ED that the Respondent is responsiblé for éll costs incurred in fulfilling
the terms and conditions of this Final Order; and it is further’ _

. ORDERED that, if the Respondent allegedly fails to comply with any term or
condition imposed by this Final Order, the Respondent shall be 'given notice and an
opportunity for a hearing. If the disciplinary panel determines there is a genuine dispute
as to a material fact, the hearing shall be before an Administrative Law Judge of the
Office of Administrative Hearings followed by an exceptions process before a
disciplinaly panel, and if the disciplinary panel ’determines there is no genuiné dispute as
to a material fact, the Réspondént shall be given a éhow cause hearing before a

disciplinary panel; and it is further’



ORDERED thét, after the appropriate hearing, if the disciplinary panel
determines that the Respoiident has failed to comply with any term or condition imposed
by ihis Final Order, the disciplinary panel inay reprimand the Rﬁspéndent, place the
Respondent on probation with appropriate terms and conditions, or suspend Respondent’s
license with appropriate terms and conditions, or revoke the Respondent’s license. The
disciplinary panel may, in addition to one or more of the sanctions set forth above,
impose a civil monetary fine on the Respondent; and it is further

ORDERED that this Final Order is a public document. See Healih Occ. §§1-607,

14- 411 1(b)(2) and Gen. Prov. §4 333(b)(6). .
zfolleorz SignatureOn File
Datt / . Christine A. Farrelly | ( /

Executive Director-
Maryland Board of Physicians

NOTICE OF RIGHT TO PETITION FOR JUDICIAL REVIEW

Pursuaiit to Health occ. §14-408, the Respondent has the right to seek judicial
review of this Final Order. Any petition for _judiqial‘review shall be filed Within thirty
(30) days from the date of mailing of this Final Order. The cover letter accompanying this
Final Order indicates the date the decigion is mailed. Any petition for judicial review
shall be made as provided for in the Adininistrative Procedure Act, Md. Code Ann., State
Gov’t §10-222 and Title 7, Chapter 200 of the Maryland Rules of Procedure.

[f the Respondent files a petit-ioi_i for judicial review, the Board is a party and

should be served with the court’s process as the following address:



Christine A. Farrelly

Executive Director

Maryland State Board of Physicians
4201 Patterson Avenue, 40 Floor
Baltimore, Maryland 21215

Notice of any petition should also be sent to Board Counsel at the folloWing address:

David Finkler

Assistant Attorney General

‘Maryland Office of the Attorney General
Maryland Department of Health

300 West Preston Street, Suite 302
Baltimore, Maryland 21201
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* STATE OF TENNESSEE
DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH

IN THE MATTER OF:

)  BEFORE THE TENNESSEE BOARD -
. )  OFMEDICAL EXAMINERS

MIGUEL RODRIGUEZ ) :
ANTONATOS, M.D. ) -
RESPONDENT '} CABENO: 2023027241

| o )
LA GRANGE PARK, ILLINOIS )
TENNESSEER LICENSE NO. 60557 )

CONSENT ORDER

The Division of Health-Related Boaldq of the Tennesses Depanmant of Health (I‘etemafter
~ the “Division™), by and through the Office of Gcnmal Counsel, and Respondent Miguel Rodrxguez
Antonatos, M.D, (heremafter *Respondent™), respectfully move the Tennessee Board of Medical
Examiners (he;eigaﬁér the “Bo'ard”) for approval of this Consent Order affecting Respondent's

medical license in the State of Tennessee.

. AUTHORITY AND JURISDICTION °

~ The Board is res;ﬁohsible for the rcgulat.ion and supervision éf medical doctors liéensed 1o
‘praétice in thc State of Tennessee. See Tenmessee Medical Practice Act, Tenmessee Cdd@
Annotated Sec’cxon (bereinafier “TENN. CORE ANN. §”) 63~ 6-101, et seq. It is the pohcy of the
Bcnard to xequm, strict comphance with the laws of this State, and to apply the laws so asto preserve
the guality of medical care provxded in Tennesses. It is the duty and responsibility of the Board to
_enforcg the Tennessee Medical Practice Act in such a ni;anﬁér asto proniote, and pro.tecf the public
health, safety and »yélfare in. every praqtfcéble .wéy, including discipiining medical doctors who -

violats the provisions of TenN. Cope ANN. § 63-6-101, ef seg. or the Rules and Regulations
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promulgated by the Board and recorded in the OQfficial Compilaiion Rulgs and Regululions of the

Stqe of Tennessee (he«i‘einaftcr “TenN, CoMP. R, & REGS."™).
Rc:s;‘ponden't Miguel Rodriguez Antonatos, M.D., by his signature to this Consent Order,
waives thé right to a contested case hearing and any and all rights fo judic_ial review in this matier.
Réspondent agress that presentation to and consideration of this Consent Order by the Board for
raﬁﬁcation and all matters divulged during that process shall not cénstih}ie unfair disélosure guch
' that the Board or any of its members shau. be brcjtldiced to the extent that requires their
.duquahﬁcatxon from hcanng this matter should this Order not be ratified, Likewisg, all matterd,
admissions and’ statements dlscloscd or c‘cchangcd during the attempted ratification process %hali
ot be used against Respondent in any subsequen_t proceeding unless independently entered into
evidence or introduced as admissions. |
© Respondent expressly waives all further procedural steps and expressly waives aﬁ.r.rights to
seck judicial review of or to challenge or contest the' validity of this Consent Ordcr.l ReSpondc:nt
understands that by signing this Consent Order, Respondent is allowmg the Board to issue its order
without further process. Respondent acknowledges that this isa formal disciplinary action :}md will
be repérted to the National Practitién@r Data Bank and/ or simi‘!ar.'agency. In fh'c event that the

Board rejects this Consent Order for any reason, it will be-of no force or effect for either party.

.  STIPULATIONS OF FACT

1. Respondent has been at all times pertinent hereto licensed by the Board as a compact
medical doctor in the State of Tennessee, having been granted Tennessee medical license
number 60557 by the Board on November 15, 2019, Respondent’s license currently has an

expiration date of Qctob@f 3‘1 , 2024‘.
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Respondent has been at all times pertinent hereto licensed by the Washington Medical

_Commission, holding medical license number MD 61023368.

On or about Aungust 24, 2023, the Washington Medical Commission entered an order of
public disoipliné against Respondent’s medical license.
The discipline by the Washington Medical Commission stemmed from incidents where ~

Respondent prescribed ivermectin to ai least four patients via an electronic messaging

“application kuown as “Text2MD” after the patients filled out an opline questionnaire.

Respondent prescribed ivermectin based solely on the online questionnaire. There was no
established pdtient-providér relatipnship and Respond:ent never persoﬁally engaged with
the paticnt..s via audio or video means.

The' questiodnaire for céch patient included a five-page consent form {outing the
effectiveness of ivermectin and asking the patient to agree to take ivermectin as aﬁ offx
label cirug for Covid-19 prophylaxis or treatment. The consent form includes several
studies that have since been Ietractéd or have been othcrwise discredited. The section on
informed consent also‘ included only studies that purportéd to show that ivermectin was

effective, Respondent did not include a citation or reference to any of the majority of

~ studies that showed ivermectin has no effect in either preventing or treating a Covid 19

infection nor any indicetion that organizations such as the ménﬁfacturer or Federal Drug
Administration had ;ecommcndad against using ivermectin for Covid-19. Respondent
faiieq to have a ciiscussion with the patients about the risks and benefits of the proposed:
_medicétion; failed to provide an accurate, updated, and balanced féview’ of the evidence of
the effectiveness of the medication; and failed to document or discuss an expla:qaﬁon of

the reasons the medication is appropriate for the patient’s condition. Respondent also failed
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to confirm that the patients read, understood, and did not have quesﬁonsAabout fhc lengthy
_ electronic conseni. |

6. Reé.pqndcnt entered into an Agreed Order with the Washington Mgdical Conunission. on
or about August 24, 2023, in \%/hich conditions were placed on his Wasi.,ﬁngtbn Medical
‘ Ligcxxse-. These ‘cond_i'tions include: a practice agréemen‘c in which.Resi)ondent has agreed
he :will not prescribe {x'ermectin for non-FDA .approved indicatic;%m 1o patients locatc:d in
the State of Washington; a Continuing Medical Education (“CME“) requeﬁent; a
compiiance andif; personal appeérmmes before the Commission; personal reports to the
- Commission; the payment of a six thousand dollar {$6,006.00) fine; the sugmission ofa
dcrﬁographic census to the Commis’sion; and the self-reporting of any disciplinafy action

by a health licensure board of another siate or healtheare facility.
7. The acts for which Respondent was disciplined in Washington wz)uld be grounds for

disciplinary action in Tennessee.

M., GROUNDS FOR DISCIPLINE

The Stipulations of Fact are sufficient to establish that grounés for discif:line; of
Respondent’s medical license exist. Speciﬁéally, Respondent has violated the followiﬁg statutes
or rules which are part of the Tennessee Medical Practice Act, (T,ENN. CODE ANN. § 63-6-101, ef

seq.) for which disciplinary action before and by the Board is authorized:

S ‘ D
8. The facts stipulated to in paragraphs two (2) through seven (7) constitute a violation of
TENN. CODE ANN, § 63-6-214(b)(1):

Unprofessional, dishonorable or unethical conduct L]
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10.

11,

12.

The facts stipulated to in paragraphs two (2) through seven (7) constitute a violation of

TENN. CODE ANN. § 63-6-214(b)(20):

Disciplinary action against a person licensed to practice medicine by
another state or tervitory of the United States for any acts or omissions that
would constitute grounds for discipline of 4 person lcensed in this state. A
certified copy of the initial or final order or other equivalent document
memorializing the disciplinary action from the disciplinirig state or territory ’
shall constituie prima facie evidence of violation of this section and be
sufficient grounds upon which to deny, restrict or condmon Heensure or
renewal and/or discipline a person licensed in this statel. ]

The facts stipulated to in paragraphs two (2) through seven (7) constitute. a violation of

TENN. CODE ANN, § 63-6-402(10)(a):

Any, disciplinary action taken by any member board against a physician licensed
through the Compact shall be deemed unprofessional conduct which may be subject
to'discipline by other member boards, in addition to any violation of the Medical
Practice Act or regulations in that state,

The facts stipulated to in paragraphs two (2) through seven (7) constitute a violation of

TENN. CODE ANN, § 63-6-402(10)(0):

If disciplinary action is taken against a physician by a member board not in the state *
" of principal license, any other member board may deem the action conclusive as to
matter of law and fact decided, and: . ‘

@

EOR

impose the same or lesser sanction(s) against the physician so long as such

. sancﬁons are consistent with the Medical Practice Act of that state; or

pursue separate disciplinary action aoamst the physician under its respecm'e
Medical Practice Act, regardless of the action taken in other meniber states.

The facts stipulated to in paragraphs two (2) through seven (7) constitute a violation the

Interstate Medical Licensure Compact Commission Rule 6.5:

(a)

Any disciplinary action by a disciplining Board shall be considered
unprofessional conduct and may be-a basis for discipline by other
member Boards. This includes any action that does not have a
corresponding ground .by the other member Board’s Medical
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Practice Act or in addition to any other specific violation of the
Medical Practice Act in the other member state.

(b) - Any member Board, including the state of principa_l license, méy:

(€)) Administratively take reciprocal action agamst a cnmpact
physician wio was disciplined by a disciplining Board. The
administrative reciprocal action of the disciplinary Boord is
deemed conclusive as to matters of law-end fact, and &~
member Board may impose the same or lesser sanction that
is consistent with the Medical Practice Act of that state;

@A) Pursue disciplinary action in acoordance with the member
Board’s Medical Practice Act against a Compact physician
who was disciplined by a dxsoxphmng Bosard. The action of
the disciplinary Board is deemed conclusive as to matters of
law and fact and a member Board may impose a more severe

" sanction...

IV. POLICY STATEMENT

‘The Board takes this action in order to protect the health, safety and welfare of people in

the State of Tennessee and ensure that the public confidence in the integrity of the medical

profession is preserved.

V. ORDER

NOW THFRETORE Respondem for the purpos*c of avoxdmg further administrative
action \mth respect to this cause, agrees to the following:
13, The l‘ en'nessee medical llcepse of Miguel Rodriguez Antonaos, M.D., license number
60557, is hereby REPRIMANi)ED effective from the date of entry of this Consent Oréer._
14‘ . Respondent must pay one (1) Type B Civil Penalfy in the a‘n,iount o'f three huﬂdred and

fifty doHars ($350.00), representing the violations outlined in paragraphs two (2) through
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seven (7) in the Stipulations of Facts;suprc}, All ¢ivil penalties shall be paid within si)dy

(60) days of the effective date of this Consent Order. Any and all civil penalty payments

shall be paid by certified éhe;ck, cashier’s check, or money order payable to the State of

Tennessee, which shall be mailed or delivered to; Disciplinary Cobrdinamr, The

Division of Ffealth—Re!ated Boards, Tennessee Departnént of Heé.’ith, 665

Mumtream Dnvc., 2"d Floer, Nashwlie, Tcnnessve 37243, A notation shall be placed

on said check’ that it is payable for the civil penalty of Mtguel Rodnguez Antonatos,

'M.D., CoMPLAINT N0, 2023027241,

" Respondent must pay, pursuant to TENN. CODE ANN. § 63-6-214(k) and Rule 0880-02-

12(1)3), the actual eind,reasonablc costs of prosécuﬁng this case to the extent allowed by |
law, including all costs assessed by the Office of luvestigations, Secretary of St,'ate,.
Admnns&aﬁve Procedures Division, as well as the Ofﬁce ef General Counsel. These costs

will be established by an Assessment of Costs prepaud and filed by counsel for the -
Depaﬁlﬁcnt‘ The maximum amount for the assessment of costs shall be one thousand.
dollars ($1,000.00). Any and all costs shall Bc _paid in il within sixty (60) days from the

issuance of the Assessment of Costs by submitting a certified check, cashier’s check, or

moncy order payable to the State of Tennessee, which shall be mailed or delivered to:

Dmcmiinan Coordlmtor, The Division of Health-Related BoardsL'lennessce

i)epartms,nt of Health, 665 Mamsircam Drn'e 2"d Floor, Nashville, Tcnnessec 37243,

A notation shall be placed on said che@L that it is payable for the costs of Miguel

Rodrigucz An_to'natos, M,D., COMPLAINT NO. 2023(%27241.
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18

17.

Failure to comply with any of fhe terms of this Order shall be considered a Board Order

violation, which may result in further discipline against Respondent pursuant to T.C.A. 63~

6-214(B)(2).

Failure to comply with any of the terms, conditions and/or requirements of the Agreed
Order Respondent entered into with the Washington Medical Commission on or about
August 24, 2023 shall be considered a violation of this Order. Any such violation inay also -

result in furthér discipline against Respondent pursuant to T.C.A. 63 -6-214(b)(2).

Vi, NOTICE

18,

Respondent understands that thisis a formal disciplinary action-and will be rcportéd to the

National Practitioner Data Bank (N.P.D.B.) and/or similar agéncy.
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“This CONSENT ORDER was approved by a majority of a quorum of the Tennessee

Board of Medical Examiners at a public meeting of the Board and signed this __ 2 o : day

of _ AAbpper 2023

A7 D

Chairperson
Tennesiee Board of Medical Examiners

APPROVED FOR ENTRY:

’W\”\ o 10 /13 /2523

Miguel Rodngucz Antonatos M.D. : DATE
Rcspondent

/ /
o 2 /6’ % 225
W, Michael Varmnell (B.F'R. #033602 " DATE .

Associate Counsel

Office of General Counsel

Tennessee Department of Health

665 Mainstream Drive; 2™ Floor

_ Nashville, Tennessee 37243

(615)517-2485
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

The undersigned hereby certifies that a true and correct copy of this document has been
served upon Respondent at the following address:
Aiguel Rodriguez Antonatos, M.D.
518 Bast Harding Avemue
La Grange Park, Illinois 60526
by dehvmng same in the United States Mail, Certified Mail Numbel '

A 5%9 Oq |Q 5 Qfl 0 O(mgﬂ qu "33 %G\ _yreturn receipt chueated and

United States First Class Postage Pre-Paid Maxl with-sufficient postage thereon to reach its

destination and via email at dr. antonatos(/gmall com.

This the Q4= | day of (\JIDesmbes” | 2023,

=77 ) /////
W. Michael Vameﬁ v/

Associate Counsel
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' STATE OF WASHINGTON
WASHINGTON MEDICAL COMMISSION

In the Matter of the Lioense to Practice

as a Physician and Surgeon of: No.'M2022~487 ‘ |
MIGUEL R. ANTONATOS, IMLC.MD STIPULATED FINDINGS OF FACT, -
License No. IMLC.MD.61023368 -1 CONCLUSBIONS OF LAW, AND
AGREED ORDER
Respondent.

The Washington Medical Commission (Commission), through-Michaet L. Farrel,
Commission Staff Attorney, and Raspondeht, representéd by'abuhsel. Jesgica M.
Creager, stipulate and agree to the following. 4

1. PROCEDURAL STIPULATIONS

1.1 OnFebruary 9, 2023, the Commission-issued a Statement of Chan:ges
against Respondent alleging a violation of RCW 18.180,180(4). ‘

1.2  The Cqmmission is prepared to proceed to a hearing on the allegations in
the Statement of Charges.

. 1.3 Respondent has the right to defend against the aflegations in the Statement
of Charges by presenting evidence at a hearing. ‘

14 The Commission has the authority to !mposa sanctions pursuant to RCW
18,130, 160 if the allegations are proven at a hearing. ,

1.5 - The parties agree to resolve this matter by means of this Stipulated Findings
of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Agreed Order (Agreed Order), '

1.8 Respondent waives the opportunity for a hearing on the' Statement of
Charges if the Commission accepts this Agreed Order. '

1.7 This Agreed Order is not binding unless it is accepted and signed by the
Commission, '

1.8 Ifthe Commission accepts this Agreed Order, it wil be reported to the
Natlénal Practitioner Data Bank (45 CFR Part 60), the Federation of State Medical Boards'
Physician Data Center, and elsewhere as required by law.

1.9 This Agreed Omier is a public document.. It will be p!aoed on the Depaﬁmeﬁt '
of Health's website, disseminated via the Commission's electronic mailing list, and

disseminated according to the Uniform stcxp!mary Act (Chapter 18.130 RCW). it may be
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gisclosed {o the pﬁblic upon i'equest pursuant to the Public Records Act (Chapter 42.56
ROW), 1t will remain part of Respondent's file according to the state's records retention

law and cannot be expunged,
' 140 if the Comrnission rejects th\s Agreed Order, Rgspondent waives any
o'bjection to the participation at hearing of any Commission rmembers who heard the
Agreed Order presentation,

1.11  Respondent may benefit from r*ompletmq a compliance orientation to

discuss completing the sanctions in this Agreed Order. To arrange an origntation
Respondent should contact the Compliance Unit at the Commigsion by calling

(380) 236-2781, or by sending an email to: Medical.compliance@wma.wa.gav.
| 2. FINDINGS OF FACT | |

Respondent and the Commission stipulate to the following findings of fact:

2.4 .On'November 20, 2019, the state of Washington issued Respondent a
license to practice as a physician and surgeon. Respondent's license is currently active,

2.2 Atall times relevant to this Statement of Charges, Respondent resided in
Hllinols, and owned a telemedicine practice called Text2MD providing telemedicine
consultations fo patients in multiple states, including patients residing in the state of
Washington. ‘ ' ‘

2.3 Respondent prescribed ivermectin to, s\t least four patients residing in the
state of Washington through TethMD as detailed below. Each of these patients bpgan
their encounter with Respondent by submitting a questionnaire via Respondent's web site.
Responde'nt did not have a previousiy established physician-patient relationship with any
of these four patients. In each case, Respondent prescribed ivermectin based solely on a
re,vxew of an online quebtxonnatre Respondent did not examine these patlents or use real-
time video or audio to consult or interact with these patients.

2.4 The questionnalre for each patient included a five-page consent form touting
the effec.tiixeness of ivermectin and asking the patient to agree.to take lvermectin as an off-
label drug for coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-18) prophylaxie or treatment, The

consent form includes several studies that have since been retracted or have béen
otherwise discredited. The section on informed consent alse included only studies that.
purported to show that ivermectin was effective. Respondent did not include a citation or |
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reference to any of the majority of studies that showed ivermectin has no effect in either
preventing or treating a COVID-19 infection nor any indication that organizations such as
the manufacturer or Federal Drug Administration had recommended against using

| vermectin for COVID-19. Respondent failed to have a discussion with the patients about
the risks and benefits of the proposed medic.atibn_; falled to provide an accurate, updated,
and balanced review of the evidence of the effectiveness of the medication; and failed to
dacument or discuss an explanation of the reasons the medication is apprapriate for the
patient's condition. Respondent also failed 1o confirm that the patients read, understood,
and did not have questions about the lengthy electronic conseant. ‘

Patlent A '

2.5  Onorabout April 29, 2021, Patient A, a 26-year-old male used Text2MD fo
seek a prescription for lvermectin. Resp'ondant had not previously treated Patient A in any
capacity. Patient A completed a questionnalire providing his name, address, sex, phone

- number, email address, occupation, sex, height and weight, and stating that the purpose -
" of the visit was “Covid prophylaxis;” that he had none of the listed medical conditions; that
he was not sick; that he did not have a confirmad COVID-18 test; that he has had no
knawn,exposure to COVID-19; and had a femperature of 98.6. Patl_ent A also answered a
guestion asking \}vhether‘he ever had an allergic reaction to ivermeetin by statihg_ thathe
had never taken lvermectin before. © ' | '
' 26  Respondent created a note in the ohart stating:

Reviewed medical history, medi¢ations and allergies, No contraindications

for Ivermectin, Patient candidate for ivermectin through this platform. Wil Rx

off labsl use lvermectin per the I-Magk protocol for covid-19 Prophylaxis,

27  Thatsame day‘ based solely en the information Patient A provided in th°
guestionnatre, Respandent sent a message o Patient A stating that he had prescribed ..
ivermectin and that it would be a *safe and effective COVID prophylaxis or treatment for
[Patient AL." Respondent sent a prescription electronically to Patient A's pharmacy for 26 -

‘tablets of ivermectin 3 mg and authorized 2 refills, with Instructions to take five tablets on
day one, then repeat same dose in 48 hours, then take five tablets once weekly.

2.8 Respondent falled fo meet the standam of care in hxs treatment of Patlent A
inthe follcwing respects
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2.8.1 Respondent failed to establish g physician-patient reiationshi;i with
Patlent A and prescribed & medication based solely on an online questionnalre,
2.8.2 Respondent failed fo provide adequate informed congent o Patient A
when prascribing an off-label medication, A ’ |
2.8.3 Respondent failed to discuss with Patxant A the use of Vdcclnes or
other treatments to prevent a COVID-19 mfectson
| Paﬂent )
2.9 Onorabout June 4, 2021, Patient B, a 48-year-old male used Text2MD to
- seek a prescriptiori for ivertectin, Respondent had not previously‘treated Patient B in any
capacity, Patient B completed a questionnaire providing his name, address, sex, phone
number, email address, occupation, sex, heiéht and welght, and stating that the purpose
‘of the visit was "Covid prophylaxis while traveling;” that he had none of the listed medical
conditions; that he was not sick; that he did not have a confirmed COVID-12 test; that he
has had no known exposure to COVID-19; and that he had never had an allergic reaction
to ivermectin because he had never taken it before, Patient B alse confirmied fhat during
the last 24 hours, he did not have cough, shoriness of brﬁaﬁ‘.; sore throat, heédaaﬁs, body
aches, feeling run down, swollen glands, pink eye, chest congestion, chest tightness or
heaviness, loss of appetite, diarrhea or loss 'of smell and taste. Patlent B also stated en the
questionnaire that he did not have any issues with his ability to think clearly, speak cleady,
sleep well, or breathe easlly, and that his symptoms were the same as the day before,
Finally, Patient B reported that his oxygen safuration was between 87 and 100%, he did
not near wheezing breath sounds, and his temperature was 98,8, '
2.10 Respondent created a note in the chart stating:

Reviewed medical history, medications and allergies, No contraindications
for lvermectin. Patient candidate for Ivarmectin through this platform. Will Rx
off label use lvermectin per the |-Mask protecol for covid-19 Prophylaxis.

2.11  Later that day, based solely on the information Patient B provided in the
questionnaire, Respondent sent a prescription electronically to Patient B's pharmacy far 35
tablats of vermectin 3 mg and authorized 2 refills, with insfructions to take seven tablets
onAday pne, then repeat same dose in 48 hours, then take seven tableﬁs once weekly,
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2,12  On or about September 15, 2021, Patient B sent a message to Respondent
requesting anothier prescription for ivermectin, “to have more on hand for an upcoming
tﬁp._" Text2MD support replied on September 20, 2021 by asking Patient 8 to complete a
medication refili form.

- 213 Onorabout September 29, 2021, Patient B completed and submitted
~ another questionnaire stating he had exposure to COVID, that his madical condition had
not changed since his last visit and asking for a refill of the ivermectin prescription.
" Respondent created a note in the chart stating: ‘

Pt on ivermectin for Covid prophylaxds, reports no changes on medications,

weight and medical conditions. Will renew Rx off label tvermectin,

214 That same day, based solely on the information Patlent B provided in the
questionnaire, Respondent sent a prescriptioh electronicaily to Patlent B's pharmacy for 56
tablets of ivermectin 3 mg and authorized 2 refills with instructions to take seven tablets
twice weekly. ' ,

2,15 On or about November 4, 2021, Patient B completed and submitted another
questionnalre stating that he ran out of ivermectin but had been taking It for five days and
stating that he has had covip for seven days, is “feeling a bit worse,” and has oxygen
-saturation readings of 87 to 89, and a temperature of about 99.9. Patlent B also Indicated
that he had a very mild cough, very miid headache, very mild body aches, a mild to

. moderate run-down feeling, a mild to moderate loss of appetite, loss of smell and taste,
and mild difficulties thinking dlearly and sleeping well..

218 On or about November 5, 2021, Respondent created a note In the chart
stating:

Reviewed medical history, medications and allergies, Mo contraindications
for lvermectin and Fluvoxamine, Patient candidate far lvemectin and
Fluvoxamine through this platiorm. WIll Rx off label use Ivermectin and -
Fluvoxamine per “the l»hrask protocol for covid-18 Early OQutpatient

Treatment, _
That same day, based solely on'the infox;naﬁon Patient 8 provided in the questionnaire,
Respondent sent a prescription electronically to Patient B's pharmagy for 20 tablets of
~ ivermectin 3 mg with instructions for Patient B to take two tablets dally for five days, then

repeat same dose as needed; 30 tablets of adult aspirin 325 mg, one tablet per day; 30
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tablets of atorvastatin 40 mg, one tablet per day; 28 tablets of ﬂuyoxamine 50 mg, one
tablet twice & day for 14 days; and two boxes of Inhaled budesonide 0.5mg/2.mL. .
Regpondent also authorlzed 2 refills of the prescription for inhaled budesonide,

2147 On or about November 8, 2021, ’Respondant sent paﬁeh‘t B a massage
gsking how he Was feeling and asking Patient B to message him if he has any questions
or congems. Patient B responded by sending Respmno’é_nt a message stating "l am feeling
oK thank you." The next day, Patient B sent a serigs of messages to Respondent asking i
he should get monoclonal antibodies and stating “1 have lower 02 Sats than | did. Wernt
from 97-89 down to 93 to 86.” Patient B added; “Oi/erall | feel ok, Butl know its in my
lunigs now. Have some t!ghtness And have some less 02 Sats which concemns me that it
could get worse. There isno mdicahon in the medical record that Respondent responded
to Patient's B's messages.

, 218 Respondent failed to meet the standard of care in his treatment of Patient B
in the following respects: ' _
2,181 Re@pondent failed fo establish a physxclan-pat:ent re!ationsmp with
Patient B and prescribed a medication based sw!any on an online questionnalre,
2.18.2 Resgpondent failed to provide adeguate informed consent to Patient
B when prescribing an off-label medication,
2.18.3 Respondent failed to discuss with Patient B the use of vac:cines or
other treatments to prevent or to treat a COVID-18 infection, '
2.18.4 Respondent failed to respond appropriately to Patient B's '_c_ondition
an November 6, 2021, by failing either to ask Patlent B to sae his primary care
provider immedlately, to contact Patient B's primary care provider directly, or to tell
Patient B to go to an urgent care facility ortoa hospital emergency department for
~ treatment.
Eaﬂent C
219 Onorabout February 14, 2021, Patient C, a 61-year-old male used
Textzfv’ib to seek a prescription for ivermectin, Respondent had not previocusly treated
Patlen,f; Cinany c:apacxty. Patient C completed a questsonnanre providing his name,
address, sex, phone number, email address, occupation, sex, height, and weight, and
stating that the purpose of the visit was pmphylaxxs Patient C entered information
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indicating that he had none of the fisted medical conditions, that he was not sick, that he .
did not have a confirmed COVID-19 test, that he has had no known exposure to COVID-
18, and that he had never had an allergic reaction to lvermectin because he had never
taken it before and did not have a pulse oximeter and did nét hear wheezing breath
sounds,

'2,20 Onthat same day, Respondent created a note in the chart statingy:.

Reviewed medical history, medications and allergies, No contraindications
for lvermectin, Patient candidate for ivermectin through this platform, Wl Rx
. off labe! use lvarmectin per the I-Mask protocol for covid-19 Prophylaxis,

2,21 Later that day, Respondent sent an email message to Patient C stating,
“Thank you for completing the questionnaire. 1 have reviewed your anawars from your
- medical chart and have determined that !vermﬂctm will be safe and an effective
prophy!axis or treatment for you. Before we complete your visit, please be sure to read the
information balow.” In the emall message, Respondent provided additional information on
ivermectin, including links for ivérmeotin safety, side effects, and drug interactions.

2.22 Ths next day, Pﬁbﬂ]uw 18, 2021, “Fcespondem sent ancther emall to Patient
C stating thaf he prescribed ivermectin off label use for covid pmphy!ax!s in high-risi
individuals and provndad instructions on how to take ivermectin for ongoing maintenance of
~ prophylaxis and In the case of a positive tesﬂ Respondent also recommended that Patient
C reach out to him if he tests positive or is having symptcms Respondent sahta
prescription electronically to a pharmacy for 10 tabiets of ivermectin 3 mg and authorized 2
refills, with instrugtions for Patient C to take five tablets on day ane, then repaat same
d_esé in 48 hours, then take five tablets once weekly. '

223 Onor about ?ebruary 18, 2021, Respondent sent a secend prescripticzn'
- electronically to Patient C's pharmacy for 10 tablets of ivermectin & mg and authorized 2
refills, with instructions fo take five tablets on day one, then repeat same dose in 48 hours,
then takn five tablets once weekly,

224 Respondent falled to meet the standard of care in his treatment of- Patient G
in the following respects;

2.24.1 Respondent failed to establish a physaclan_patlent relattonshlp with
Patlent C and prescribed a medlcatmn based sc!eiy on an onkine questionnaire.
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-2.24,2 Respondent failed to provide adequate nformed oonsent to Pat{ent

G when prescribing an off-label medication, .

2243 Respondent falled to discugs with Patlent C the use of vacclnes or
other treatments to prevent a COVID-19 infection.
Patlent D

, 2.25 On or about March 2, 2021, Patlent D, a 56~year~oid female used Text2MD
to seek a prescription for ivermectin. Respondent had not previously treated Paﬁent Din
any capaclty Patient D c;ompleted a questionnalre providing her name, address, sex,
phone number. email address oceupation, sex, height and welght, and stating that the
purpose of the visit was “[tlo prevent and or minimize Covid symptoms if needed with
Ivermectin,” Patient D entered information indicating that she had none of the listed’
medical conditions, that she had no medication allergies, that she was not pregnant, that
she was not sick, that she did not have a confirmed COVID-18 test, that she has had no
knowrn exposure to COVID-19, and that he had never had an allergic reaction to
ivermectin. Patient D also reported that she did not have symptoms of the following:
cough, shorthess of breath, soré throat, runny nose, plugged nose, headache, body ache,
chills, feeling feverish, feeling dizzy, feeling tired, irritabllity, swollen glands, pink eye, chest
congestion, chesttightness or heaviness, loss of appetite, diarrhea, or loss of smell and
faste. Patlent D stated that she did not have a pulse oximeter, did not hear wheezing -
breath sounds, and had a temperature of 98.0, '

2.268 Laterthat day, based solely on the Information Patient D provided In the
questionnaire, Respondent sent an emall message to Patlent D stating “Thank you for
completing the questionnaire, | have reviewed your answers frdm your medical chart and
have determinéd that ivermectin will be safe and an eﬁéeﬁve prophylaxis or treatment for
you, Before we complete your visit, please be sure to read the information below.” in the
email messagé, Respondent provided additional information on ivermectin, including links
for ivermectin safety, side effects, and drug interactions.

2.27  On or about March 7‘ 2021, Patient D sent an email message to
Respondent asking Respondent o tell her what the next steps were, Respondent replied
Mth an emall message apologizing for the delay, and stating, In part, “Based on your
informaation and risk factors, | have prescribed ivermectin off label usé far covid prophylaxis
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in high risk individuals, take the recommended dose on day 1 and then repeat dose in 48
hrs." Respondent also advised how to take ivermactin for ongeing maintenance of
prophylaxis and in the case of a positive test, Respondent alse recommendad that Patient

D reach out o him in case she tests positive or has symptoms. Respandent also created a
note In the chart stating:

Reviewed medical history, medications and allergies, No cant,raindfcétions

for ivermectin. Patient candidate for lvermectin through this platform, Wl Rx

off label use lvenmactin per the I-Mask protocol for cavid-19 Prophylaxis.

2,28 Onorabout March 8, 2021, Respondent sent in a prescription electronically
to-Patient D's pharmacy for 35 tablets of ivermectin 3 mg and authorized 2 refills, with
instructions for Patient D to take seven tablets on day one, then repeat the same dosg in -
48 hours, then take seven tablets once weekly. (BP 18)

'2.28  On or about June 22, 2021, Patient D used Text2MD fo seek a refill of her
ivermectin prescription for "preventative covid.” No Information Is contained in the records
about symptoms or medical condition, with only the most recent welght reported and that
the last ime Patient D had taken ivermectin was on June 20, 2021, Respondent created a
note in the chart stating:

Pt on ivermectin for Covid prophylaxis reports no changes on medications,

waight and medical conditions. Will renew off label ivermeetin, ,

2.30  Onorabout July 9, 2021, Patient D serit a message via online chat to
Respondent stating that CVS needed a diagnosis code before they would fill the
prescription. Respondent resbcnded saying,’ “Dx code Is for covid then they will deny the
Rx, | will send to CFS.” Respondent then sent the prescription for 16 capsules of
ivermectin 3mg to CareFirst Specialty Pharmacy, with instructions for Patient D to take 1
capsule on day 1, then repeat the same dose in 48 hours, and then take 1 capsule weekly.

231 Onorabout August 16,2021, Patient D sent a message via onling chat o
"Respondent stating that ghe had some COViD-telated sympto_ms since the prior day,
including fever on an off with a high of 100.8, stuffy nose and cough, earache and
headache, and an oxygen saturation level of 95-88. Patient D said she has been taking
ivermectin twice a week, along with Vitamin D and zinc. Patient D also reported she would
be getling tested that day. Patient D asked Respondent 1f she should be do}ng anything
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elge, Léter that day, Respondent replied stating “CQVID treaiment patients will be priority.
Praphylaxis will take up to 7y2hrs or more to raspond. We appreciate your patience and
understanding.” Respondent provided no other communication, care or follow up to Patient
- D's concetns. - A

' 2,32 Respondent stated that he renewed Patient D's prescription for ivermectin

on or about September 1, 2021, based on a patient refill form completed by Patient D, but -
not contalned in the file. No copy of the prescription Is contained in the record, but
Raspondent stated it was sent to CareFirst Specialty Pharmacy,

233 On or about November 7, 2021, Patient D used Texi2MD to seek & refill of
her ivermectin preécﬁptton for “Preventative.” No information is contained In the records
about symplorns or ,quical é:ondition_, with only the most recent weight réported and that
the last ime Patient D had taken ivermectin was that day. Respondent ereated a note in
the chart stating:

Reviewed medical history, mediéations and allergies, No contraindications
- for lvermectin, Patient candidate for lvermectin through this platform, Will Rx
~off label use Ivermectin per the I-Mask protocol-for covid-19 for Prophylaxis.
Later that day Respondent sent a prescription to CareFirst Speciaity Pharmacy for a
prescription of 28 gapsules of 3mg ivermectin, with instructions for Patient I to take 1
capsule twice weekly, ' | o

2.34 Respondent failed to meet the standard of care in his treatment of Patlent D.
in the following respects: ‘ ‘ o
2.34.1 Respondent falled to establish a physician-patient relationship with
Patient D and prescribed a medication‘ based solely on an online quest.lonnaire.'
2.34.2 Respondent failed to provide adequate informed congent to Patient
D when prescribing an off-label medication, 4 ,
2.34.3 Respondent failed o discuss with Patient D the use of vaccines or
ofher treatments to prevent a COVID-18 Infection, '
_ 2.34.4 Respondent falled to respond -appropriately and provide follow-up
care to Patient D after Patlent D described her condition on August 16, 2021,
2,345 Respondent also falled to explain or justify changes in the dosages
or frequency when renewing Patlent D's ivermectin prescriptions, -
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3. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
The Commission and Respondent agree to the entry of the fallowing Conclusions
of Law:
3.1 The Commission has jurisdiction over Respondent and over the subject
matier of this procesding, _ _
32 Respondent has cormmitted unprofessional conduct in violation of
RCW 18.130.180(4). | '

33 The above violation prowdes grounds for imposing sanctions undel
RCW 18.130.180.

4, AGREED ORDER ‘
Rased on the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, Respondent agrees o
entry of the following Agreed Order:

41  Practice Agregment,

A. Respondent agrees that when prescribing medication or providing care to
patients in the state of Washington Respondent will first establish a physician-
patient relationship by seeing the patient either in-person or via real-time video,
t,aking the: patient's history, and examining the patient before deciding on a course
of treatment and prescribing medication to that patient,

B. Respondent agrees he will not prescribe ivermectin for nonQFDA~
approved indications to patients located in the state of Washington, »

4.2 Continuing Medical Education (CME) Respondent wilt succes sfully
corplete a continuing medical education (CME) course, pre c-approved by the Commlssion
orits désigmee, in record-keeping. Respondent will comiplete the coursework within z,i\ {8)
months of the effective date of this Stipulation. Respondent shall provide the Cornmission
with course cer’tiﬁcates-wiﬂ'\in one (1) month of completion. Respondent will also complete
the course on "Basic lnfectiouls' Disease Concepts in Epidemiology” given by the
Northwest Center for Public Health Practice (Basic Infestious Disease Concepts in

' Epidemioloav | Northwest Center for Public Health Practice (nwephp. bm')

4.3 Comohmce Audxt Respondea it will perm\t a representative of the
Commission, or a pre-approved designee, fo make announced visits to Respondent's
practice on an annual basis to conduct a compliance audit. The compliance audit will
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include a review of Respondent's records, and compliance with this Agreed Order;' The
representative will randomly select records of Respondent's patients to determine If
Respondent is in compliance with this Agreed Order, The cmﬁplianoe audits may also
include inspection of office records, medication-logs, generation of PMP profiles for all
patlents, and Interviews of Respondent and other staff. Any costs associatad with these
compliance audits will be bormne by Respondent. . Respondent will fully cooperate with the
representative during the compliance audit,

44  Personal Appearances, Within twalve (12) months cf the effective date of
this Agreed Order, Respandent will personally appear at a daté and location determined
by the Commissien, or ag soon thereafteruas the Commission's schedule permits.
Thereafter, Respondent will make personal appearances annually or as frequently as the
Commission requires unless the Commission waives the need for an appearance.
Respondent will participate in a brief telephone call with the Commission's Compliance
Unit prior to the appearance. The purpose of appearances is to pravide meaningful
oversight over Respondent's compliances with the requi%ements of this Agreed Order. The
Commisslon will provide reasonab!é notice of all scheduled appearancas.

45 Personal Reports. Respondent will submit written personal reports
directly o the Compission. Respondent will submit the first report within thirty (30)

- days from the effective of this Agreed Order and will submit a report every six (8)
menths thereafter uniess the Commission determines that they should be submitted
less frequently, and Respondent Is notified in writing. Personal reports will Include a
declaration attesting that Respondent is in compliance with all terms and conditions of
this Agreed Crder, a status report regarding any terms and conditions nat yet 1
gompleted, current professional responsibilities and activities, Qersqr-aal activiies as thay -
relate to practice as.a physician, and any ongolng efforts to Implement improverments .
into Respondent’s practice that may be relevant to the findings of fact cutlined in this
Agreed Order. : -

. 4.6 Fine, Within ning (9) months of the effective date of this Agreed Order,
Respondent will pay six thousand doliars ($6,000) to the Commission. The fi ne‘wnl be
paid by certified check or money order, made payable to the Department of Health, and
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mailed téf Washington Medical Gommission, Department of Health, P.O. Box 1099,
Olympia, Washington, 98504-1099, ’

4,7  Demwgraphic Census. Washington law requires physicians and

physician assistants to complete a demographic census with their license renewal,
RCW. 18.71.080(1)(b) and 18,71A.020(4)(b). Respondent will submit a completed
dermnographic census' to the Commission within thirty (30} days of the effective date of
this Agreed Order, or at the time of renewal, whichever come;»s’ﬁrst,' The demographic
census can be found here: can be found here:

hilps;//wme.wa gov/licensina/renewals/demographic-tansus.

4.8  Sel-Reporting. Respondent will report in writing, by emall to
medical.compliance@wme.wa.qov, within thirty (30} days of the occurrence of any of
the following events:

. Entry into any formal or iﬁformal agreement or order or issuance of any
order, letter of concern, or reprimand with.or by any healthcare-related license for
the Respondent in aho’thgr state,

B. Denial, restriction, suspension or revocation of privileges for the

Respondent in any healthcare {acility,

C. Any felony or gross misdemeanor charge against the Respondent, and
D. The filing of a oorﬂplaint in superior court or federal district court against
Respondent alleging negligence or request for mediation pursuant to chapter
7.70 ROW. |
" This requirement supplements and does not supersede the reporting obligations
imposed by WAC 246-16-230, ' , '

4.9 . Obey Laws. Respondent will obey all federal, state and local laws and all
administrative rules governing the practice of the profession in Washington. ‘ '
410 Costs. Responden't wil assume all costs of complying with this Agreed
Order. , '

411 Violations, If Res'pond‘e'nt violates any provision, of this Agreed Order in any
respect, the Commission may initiate further action agéinét Respondent's license,

STIPLLATED FINDINGS OF FACT, I , PAGE 13 of 16 -
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, AND AGREED ORDER
NO, M2022-487 ~



412 g:haﬁqe of Address or Name. Respondent will inform the Commission and
Adjudicative Clerk Office in writing, of changes in his residential and/or business address
andfor his name within thirty (30) days of such change. |

4.13  Effective Date. The effective date of this Agreed Order Is the date the
Adjudicative Clerk Office places the signed Agreed Order into the U.S. mall. If réquired,
Resgpondent shall not submit any fees or compliance documents unti after the effective
date of this Agread Order,

414  Termination. Respondent may petition the Commission in wmmg to
terminate this Agreed Order five years from its effective date, and only after successful
completion of alf terms and conditions. The Commission \‘Hﬂ issue a notice scheduling a

date and time for Respondent to appear unless the Commiss’aﬂ walves the need for an
appearance.

' 5. COMPLIANCE WITH SANCTION RULES
51  The Commission appliés WAC 24'6-164300 et seq., to determine
appropriate sanctiens, including stiputations to informaf disposttion under RCW
18.130.172. Tier B of the “Practice Below Standard of Care” schedule, WAC 24816-810, -
applies to cases where substandard pmctlpés resulted in moderate paﬁ'ent harm or
created a risk of moderate to severe patient harm, Respondent's care of Patients A, B, C,
and D, included prescribing medicaﬁén based solely on an online questionnaire, failing to
provide adequate informed consent, failing to provide information on other treatments,
and, In some cases, falling to respond apbropﬁéteiy fo serious conditions, elther caused
“moderate harm or created a risk of modarate harm to these patlents. Schedule B therefore
applies. ' A
5.2 TierB réquires the imposition of sanctions ranging from two years of
oversight to five years of oversight, unless revocation. Under WAC 246-16-800(3)(d), the
starting point for the duration of the sanctions is the middle of the range. The Commission
uses aggravating and mitigating.factors fo move towards the raaximurm er minimum ends
of the range. _ _
' 53 The aggfavatjng and mitigating factors in this case, listed below, justify é
moving to the maximum end of the range. The sanctions also include bractice

agreements, continuing medical educatlon ln record keeping and basls mfecncus disease
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concepts, annual compliance appearances before the Commlsslon annual compliance
audits, and other tenms designed to protect the public,

5.4  These sanctions are appropriate within the Tier B range given the alleged '
facts of the case and the following aggravating and mitigating factors:
A Aggravating factors include the number of patients invalved and the
egreglous nature of the substandard care provided to {hose paﬁenis.
B. A mitigating factor Is Respondent coaperated with the Investigation.

| 6. FAILURE TO COMPLY

Protection of the public requires practice under the terms and conditions imposed in
this Agreed Order. Failure to comply with the terms and conditions of this Agreed Order
may result in further action on Respondent’é license after a show cause hearing, f
Respondent fails to comply with the terms and conditions of this Agread Order, the
Commission may hold a hearing to require Respondent to show cause why the license
should not be revoked, Alternatively, the Commission may bring additional charges of
unprofessional conduct under RCW 18.130,180(8). In either case, Respondent will be.
afforded notice and an opportunity for a hearing on the issue of non-compliance.

7. RESFONDENT'S ACCEPTANCE
. |, MIGUEL ANTONQTOS, MD, Respondent, cerfify that | have read this Agreed
Order in its entirety; that my counse! of record, Jessica M. Creager; has fully explainéd the
legal signlﬁcancé and consequence of it; that | fully understand and agree 1o alf of it; and
thiat it may be presented to the Commission without my appearance. If the Commission
| accepts the Agieed Order, | understand that | will receive a signed copy.

/\/\f\\ S 08/10/2023
MIGUEL R. ANTONATOS, MD - DATE
RESPONDENT

JESSICA M. CREAGER, WSBA NO. 421 83 DATE
ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT :
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.und uiher tams desmn&c! to proier:t th»* pubvc

4 f" 54 Thesa &.anchons are appropriate within the Tier B. rangx gwen the ikeg;&d
-‘%.iacis; af ihe c:a&e end the foﬂow‘nq agqrdvaimg any mst;c,aung f?"C’(Dl‘ﬁ T
o ;«ggmahnc factots Include the number of pauenis n\folv&d an:ﬁ tbe . S
egfﬁf}'ou n’m,lm of the aubsbandard e pmﬂdad fo those p jents, o ‘
B. A mitigating factor is Respondent enoperated with the investigation.

| 8. FAILURE TO COMPLY
‘ Protection of the public requires practice under the terms and conditions Impaé»sd in
this Agieed Order. Fallure to comply with the terms and conditions of this Agreed Order
may rasult in further action on Respondent's license after a show cause heariﬂg'- i
Respondent fails to cemply with the terms and conditions of this Agreed Order, the
Cornralssion may hold a hearing to require Respondent to show cause why the license
shouid nat be revoked. Alternatively, the Commission may bring additional charges of
utprofessional conduct under RCW 18.130.1 80(9): In elther case, Raspondent ‘MH he
afforded notice and an opportunity for a hearing on the issue of non-compliance.

7. RESPONDENT'S ACCERTANCE
L MIGUEL ANTONOTOS, MD, Respondent, certify that | have read this Agreed
C)rdér in its entirety; that my counset of recard, Jessica M, Creager, has fully explained the
legal significance and consequence of it; that | fully understand and agree to all of it and
that t may be presented fo the Commission without my appearapce. If the Cornmission
accepts the Agreed Order, | understand that | will receive a signed copy. -

/m@ ' 08/10/2023
nlﬂbUCi R. ANTC*Q‘JHTOS MD DATE
RE%PC‘NDE NT
/ (‘M/ 2 H /f{if '/ /} ‘;:’:M == | ! /u £ "/Z’? 2 2.2 ::;
:fw’"‘JL‘mr i N CREAGER, WBBA NO. 42783 beTL( i !
ATTORHK FY COR RESPONDENT
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8, COMMISSION'S AGCEPTANGE AND ORDER

The COHmtSblOn accepts and enters this Stipulaied Findings of Fact, Conclusions
~of Law and Agreed Qrder. '

i \
ARERTI R
paten: 105

ST ATE OF WASHINGTON
WASHINGTON MEDICAL C‘OMMIbo!Q

~ .
I g(_,"‘-"‘.\““‘;:...,‘ / e

/’ [,.‘ "5[ ),.-}'r"u—l -
"PANEL CHAIR)

PRESENTED BY:

. [ %Y] ‘(\\A //// w/ # /’ / L . /

/ l// i \*«"‘\-—'L L VL \lt th.‘ f“ '-'\1‘{_4 f"\v"[‘ !:ﬂ
/:(u Gl \/HCHAEL L FARRELL, WSBA NO. 16022
COMMISSION STAFF ATTORNEY

STIPULATED FINDINGS OF FAGT, | T T PAGE 18 of 16
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, AND AGREED ORDER
NO. M2022-487





